No. 19-121896-A

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF KANSAS**

STATE OF KANSAS
Plaintiff-Appellant

vs.

KYLE L. HEINEKEN
Defendant-Appellee

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Clay County, Kansas
The Honorable William M. Malcolm, District Magistrate Judge
District Court Case No. 18 TR 191

Richard E. James, #20962
Clay County Attorney
712 5th Street, Suite 202
Clay Center, KS 67432
(785) 632-3226
(785) 632-3819 Facsimile
claycoatty@yahoo.com
Attorney for Appellant
Oral Argument: 15 Min.

NATURE OF CASE

The Defendant, Kyle Heineken, was charged in Clay County District Court with one count of driving under the influence of alcohol, second offense, and one count of speeding. The Defendant filed, and the district court magistrate heard, a motion to suppress alleging the arresting officer improperly denied the Defendant a right to an additional blood alcohol test at his own expense. That motion was denied, and the Defendant subsequently filed a request for a jury trial. The case was then transferred to a district judge for a jury trial. The Defendant then filed a motion to reconsider to be heard before the district judge. After hearing argument at a status hearing, the district judge remanded the case back to the magistrate judge to hear the motion to reconsider and, if necessary, conduct a misdemeanor

jury trial. The magistrate judge then heard the motion to reconsider and granted the motion. The State then filed the instant interlocutory appeal, arguing the district court magistrate erred in granting the motion to suppress.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

ISSUE: The district court erred in holding the arresting officer improperly denied the Defendant the opportunity to obtain his own test after testing on the Intoxilizer 9000.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On September 29, 2018, Deputy Keith Myers of the Clay County Sheriff's Department stopped a vehicle for speeding. (Vol. II, p. 4) He approached and identified the driver as the Defendant, Kyle L. Heineken. (Vol. II, p. 4) After a series of field sobriety tests, he arrested the Defendant for driving under the influence of alcohol. (Vol. II, p. 4) The deputy transported the Defendant to the Clay County Law Enforcement Center where the Defendant consented to a breath test on the Intoxilizer 9000. (Vol. II, p. 5) The Intoxilizer provided a printout that indicated a valid test and that the Defendant was in excess of the legal limit for driving. (Vol. II, p. 5)

However, as the officer was removing the mouthpiece from the machine after the test, he noticed flakes of what appeared to be chewing tobacco on the mouthpiece. (Vol. II, p. 5) After the test, the Defendant asked about contacting his attorney, and was told he could. (Vol. II, p. 5) (Video 215829-220311 22:01) Then, about eight minutes later, the Defendant asked about an independent test; the conversation, as recorded on booking room camera, was:

Myers: (referring to consulting an attorney about additional testing) “. . . but if at this point he says yeah, go ahead, you’re going to have to secure testing on your own. That means you’ll have to go somewhere and take the test.

Heineken: That’ll be fine.

Myers: There’s nowhere around here that you can take an actual breath test. The only option . . .

Heineken: What about blood ?

Myers: . . . would be to go to the hospital and have blood drawn. That’s something you would have to do on your own.

Heineken: Under your surveillance?

Myers: No, at this point any additional testing that you do is on you, pretty much. So if you want to go have blood drawn and use that as your defense later down the road, that’s totally up to you because my basis for the arrest tonight was based on what I observed out in the field. Okay. (Video 220903-221039 22:09)

The deputy explained to the Defendant that he wanted to be fair to him and he was worried the tobacco particles on the mouthpiece would not give him an accurate breath test. (Vol. II, p. 6) He did not deny the Defendant an opportunity to get another test, but simply gave him the option of taking a second breath test after rinsing his mouth and waiting another 20 minutes. (Vol. II, p. 6-7) The Defendant eventually agreed to a second breath test, and at the conclusion of the second breath test, the Defendant was turned over the jailer for booking. (Vol. II, p. 7) After the second test was complete, the Defendant did not ask to do additional testing; the deputy asked him if he had any questions, and when the Defendant replied “no,” the deputy left. (Vol. II, p. 7)

After the Defendant was charged and arraigned, the Defendant filed, and

the district court magistrate heard, a motion to suppress alleging the arresting officer improperly denied the Defendant a right to a second blood alcohol test at his own expense. (Vol. I, p. 44-45) That motion was denied, and the Defendant subsequently filed a request for a jury trial. (Vol. I, p. 44-46) The case was then transferred to a district judge for a jury trial. The Defendant then filed a motion to reconsider to be heard before the district judge. (Vol. I, p. 73) After hearing argument at a status hearing, the district judge remanded the case back to the magistrate judge to hear the motion to reconsider and, if necessary, conduct a misdemeanor jury trial. (Vol. I, p. 93) The magistrate judge then heard the motion to reconsider and granted the motion. (Vol. I, p. 99) The State then filed the instant interlocutory appeal, arguing the district court magistrate erred in granting the motion to suppress.

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

ISSUE: **The district court magistrate erred in holding the arresting officer improperly denied the Defendant the opportunity to obtain his own test after testing on the Intoxillizer 9000.**

Standard of Review

The State alleges the district court erred when it granted the Defendant's motion to suppress. The State is authorized to take this interlocutory appeal pursuant to K.S.A. 22-3603. The standard of review for an appellate court reviewing a motion to suppress is as follows:

Our review of an evidence suppression issue is bifurcated. Without reweighing the evidence, the appellate court first examines the district court's findings to determine whether they are supported by

substantial competent evidence. The district court's legal conclusions are then reviewed *de novo*. If there are no disputed material facts, the issue [of whether to suppress evidence] is a question of law over which the appellate court has unlimited review. *State v. Karson*, 297 Kan. 634, 639, 304 P.3d 317 (2013).

Argument and Authorities

The issue is, as noted above, whether the Defendant was given a timely opportunity to obtain an independent blood alcohol test the night of his arrest. The parties seem to agree that the baseline case on this issue is *State v. George*, 12 Kan.App.2d 649, 754 P.2d 460 (1998). In *George*, the defendant asked for an additional test approximately an hour after testing was complete, but the officer refused to take him for a blood test. 12 Kan.App.2d at 651-52. The officer's stated reasons for the refusal to take George to get the test were that he would have to transport George, the hospital would have to call off duty personnel in, and that it would take too long to get George ready and transport him to the hospital. *Id.*

The *George* panel held:

We hold that there is coupled with a DUI suspect's statutory right to additional testing a corresponding duty on the part of law enforcement officers not to deny the suspect that right. Law enforcement officers may not nullify a right granted to a citizen by the legislature. George did not have a reasonable opportunity to obtain additional testing. Under the facts of this case, the denial of George's request for additional testing violated K.S.A. 1987 Supp. 8-1004 and the State's breath test should have been excluded. What is a "reasonable opportunity" will depend on the circumstances in each case. When a DUI suspect is detained under arrest the opportunity afforded him must be consistent with safe custody. What may be a reasonable opportunity in one locality may not necessarily be reasonable in another. *Id.* at 653-54.

As noted by the *George* panel, what is a “reasonable opportunity” will depend on the circumstances in each case.

The opposite result was reached in *Mitchell v. Kansas Dept. of Revenue*, 32 Kan.App.2d 298, 81 P.3d 1258 (2004), a case decided six years after *George*. Mitchell was immediately driven to a hospital by the police after requesting an independent test after his breath test was complete, but the hospital refused to draw his blood. 32 Kan.App.2d at 299-300. The officer argued with the hospital staff and even offered to take the cuffs off Mitchell, then allow Mitchell to walk in on his own and request the test. *Id.* The hospital still refused and would only do the test if the Kansas Highway Patrol could be billed. *Id.*

The officer took Mitchell back to jail, and Mitchell argued on appeal that the officer had a responsibility to take him to a different facility that would draw his blood. *Id.* at 300-01. However, Mitchell did not renew his request for a blood test after he was turned down at the hospital. *Id.* The *Mitchell* Panel noted that the test was whether Mitchell had a reasonable opportunity to obtain an independent test, and whether that opportunity was reasonable was driven by the circumstances of the case, rather than a bright line rule. *Id.* at 301.

The *Mitchell* Panel then searched for similar precedent in Kansas case law as well as other jurisdictions. The Panel noted that in *State v. Chastain*, 265 Kan. 16, 22, 960 P.2d 756 (1998), our Supreme Court held it was not unreasonable interference with the right to an independent test when the police officer told Chastain that an additional test would result in a higher reading than the breath

test had provided. In two cases in Georgia, *Grizzle v. State*, 153 Ga. App. 364, 265 S.E.2d 324 (1980) and *Jenkins v. State*, 198 Ga. App. 843, 403 S.E.2d 859, 861 (1991), Georgia appellate courts held that when the defendants were turned away from hospitals the officers were not required to “insure the performance of the test.” 265 Kan. at 302-303. Likewise, the *Mitchell* Panel found both South Carolina and Maine followed the same principle. See *City of Columbia v. Ervin*, 330 S.C. 516, 500 S.E.2d 483 (1998); *State v. Copeland*, 391 A.2d 836 (Me.1978). 265 Kan. at 303.

After this review of caselaw in Kansas and other jurisdictions, the Panel noted that Mitchell had argued it was the officer’s responsibility to transport him to another facility to get the independent test and that by not doing so, the officer violated his rights. 265 Kan. at 304. The Panel in response held:

The problem with this argument is that we find no evidence in the record that suggests that Winner ever refused to take Mitchell to a second hospital. We find no evidence that Mitchell requested to be taken to a second hospital. The evidence supports the conclusion reached by the trial court that Mitchell had a reasonable opportunity to obtain an independent BAC test but failed to do so. *Id.*

Likewise, our Supreme Court in *Chastain*, as noted above, has ruled that it was not unreasonable interference with the suspect’s attempts to secure an additional test when a police officer informed the suspect that the additional test would register higher than the breath test the officer had just given him.

A similar conclusion was reached in *State v. Brown*, 196 P.3d 1232 (Table),

2008 WL 5234533 (attached), decided ten years after *George*. In *Brown*, the defendant was transported to the hospital by ambulance after a single vehicle accident, and the police followed the ambulance to the hospital. 2008 WL 5234533 at *1. While there, the defendant told the officer he wanted both a blood test and a breath test, but when the technician attempted to draw his blood, he refused and asked to go to the bathroom instead. *Id.* He was told that would count as a refusal. *Id.*

No blood was taken, and about an hour later, Brown was released from the hospital and immediately arrested by the officer. *Id.* On the way to the police station, he told the officer he would like a breath test and successfully completed one at the station; the test showed his BAC to be .159. *Id.* He made no further requests and was booked into jail. *Id.* The district court denied his motion to suppress the breath test. *Id.* at *2.

After being convicted of felony DUI, he filed an appeal, alleging the police should have allowed him to get a blood test after completing the breath test at the station and cited to *State v. George* for support. *Id.* The *Brown* Panel noted that *George* held “. . . a suspect is not afforded a reasonable opportunity to obtain additional testing when the facts demonstrate that an officer has unreasonably interfered with the suspect's reasonable attempts to secure additional testing.” *Id.* at *3 quoting *George*, 12 Kan.App.2d at 655. Then, the Panel found:

Here, Brown's request for a blood test was not met with a flat refusal from Tatro; Tatro provided Brown an opportunity for the blood test at the hospital, but Brown refused to allow his blood to be drawn.

Brown never made any further request for a blood test, even after submitting to the breath test at the jail. Thus, *George* is distinguishable. *Id.* at *3.

In *State v. Chastain*, 265 Kan. 16, 18, 960 P.2d 756 (1998), the defendant blew into the Intoxilizer but provided a deficient sample that nonetheless showed a reading of .210 BAC. Chastain then asked for a blood test, but the officer told him that the result of a blood test would be higher; the defendant then told the officer to “forget it.” 265 Kan. at 18. On appeal, the defendant argued that the test should be suppressed because the officer’s comments “wrongfully persuaded him from taking the blood test and resulted in an unreasonable interference by the State with his rights under the provisions of K.S.A. 8-1004.” *Id.* at 20.

As noted above, our Supreme Court disagreed, holding:

... [I]n certain circumstances, comments by officers which persuade an accused not to take an additional test will constitute an unreasonable interference with that right. Whether such comments constitute coercion and rise to the level of unreasonable interference depends upon the facts and circumstances of each particular case. *Id.* at 21.

The *Chastain* Court went on to find that the officer did not deny Chastain the subsequent test, and that the officer had told Chastain he could have an independent test. *Id.* at 21. The Court further found that there was no evidence in the record that the officer’s comments were coercive or designed to prevent Chastain from seeking the test. *Id.* at 21-22.

What is common to *Brown*, *Mitchell*, and *Chastain* is there was an intervening event between the request for an independent blood test and the

opportunity for a blood test and none of the three defendants in those cases renewed their request after the intervening event. Also, in each case, the officer did not deny them the right to an independent test. In *Brown*, the intervening event was his subsequent arrest, transport, and test on the Intoxilizer. In *Mitchell*, the intervening event was the refusal of the hospital to perform a blood test, and finally, in *Chastain*, the intervening event was the officer's remarks about a blood test giving a higher result.

When comparing the case law to the instant case, after the Defendant submitted to the Intoxilizer 9000, he asked about an independent test some minutes after the officer discovered the tobacco flakes on the mouthpiece. The video camera recorded the entire encounter and recorded the following conversation between the officer and the Defendant:

Myers: (referring to consulting an attorney about additional testing) "... but if at this point he says yeah, go ahead, you're going to have to secure testing on your own. That means you'll have to go somewhere and take the test.

Heineken: That'll be fine.

Myers: There's nowhere around here that you can take an actual breath test. The only option . . .

Heineken: What about blood ?

Myers: . . . would be to go to the hospital and have blood drawn. That's something you would have to do on your own.

Heineken: Under your surveillance?

Myers: No, at this point any additional testing that you do is on you, pretty much. So if you want to go have blood drawn and use that as your defense later down the

road, that's totally up to you because my basis for the arrest tonight was based on what I observed out in the field. Okay. (Video 220903-221039 22:09)

After this exchange, the two officers (Myers had been joined by another officer at the station) and the Defendant discussed the officer's offer of a second blood test after expressing his concern about the tobacco. The officer had explained the presence of tobacco and offered the second test about eight minutes before the exchange about an independent test. (Video 215829-220311 22:01) During the second twenty minute observation period, the Defendant did not renew his request for an independent test, although he spoke freely with both officers. At one point, he asked Officer Fischer if the officer thought he should take the second Intoxilizer test; the officer told him he could not give legal advice. (Video 221443-221701 22:14) When he blew into the intoxilizer the second time, the deputy read the Defendant the reading; it was in excess of the legal limit again, and only slightly less than the original reading from the first test. (Video 222339-223440 22:23)

At the conclusion of the second test, Myers asked the Defendant "Do you have any questions for me at this point;" the Defendant replied "No." (Video 222849-223048 22:29) At that point, Myers turned him over to the jailer for processing, a few minutes later, Myers reentered the room. Myers told him his bond amount and said, "Any other questions for me?" and the Defendant shook his head no. (Video 223650-224055 22:38) Then Myers said "OK, well, if you have any questions before you leave have them reach out to me and get ahold of me and

I'll see if I can answer them for ya, all right? Thanks, Kyle.” (Video 223650-224055 22:38) At that point, the deputy left, had no further contact with the Defendant, who continued to process with the jailer and then immediately bonded out when the processing was complete. In spite of Myers’ repeated questioning, the Defendant never asked again about an independent test.

Comparing these facts to the caselaw, it is the State’s position that this case is on point with the three cases cited above, *Brown*, *Mitchell*, and *Chastain*. In each of those cases, the defendant requested an independent test, and then there was an intervening event. Here, the intervening event was the tobacco noted on the mouthpiece after the first test. Unlike the defendant in *George*, the Defendant was not told he could not or would not be allowed to get an independent test. The officer explained to him that was up to him “to do on his own.” The officer testified he was referring to the fact that it was at the Defendant’s own expense, and that he was not required to observe the test. (Vol. II, p. 6) The officer further testified that had the Defendant not consented to the second breath test, he would have taken him to get a blood test. (Vol. II, p. 25)

In *Brown*, *Mitchell*, and *Chastain*, each of the defendants failed to renew their request for a blood test after the intervening event. Here, the officer asked the Defendant to redo the breath test because of the tobacco. The Defendant cites *Dumler v. Kansas Dep’t of Revenue*, 302 Kan. 420, 354 P.3d 519 (2015), for the proposition that a defendant may invoke his right to an attorney at any time, although he cannot exercise that right until after testing is complete. (Vol. I, p. 76)

He then argues that the same applies to a defendant's right to an independent test. That concept must be balanced against the purpose of a defendant's right to an independent test. The purpose of the right to an independent test was outlined by the Supreme Court in *Chastain*, cited above. The *Chastain* Court held that the purpose of this right is as expressed in K.S.A. 8-1004 and that is "to allow an accused an opportunity to secure independent testing in order to rebut the results of police testing, which may be used by the State upon trial." 265 Kan. at 20.

The measure, as repeatedly outlined by Kansas appellate courts, is did law enforcement unreasonably interfere with the defendant's right to independent testing? In *Chastain*, the Supreme Court quoted the *George* Court for the standard that law enforcement must unreasonably interfere with the suspect's reasonable attempts to obtain additional testing. *Id.* at 20, quoting *George*, 12 Kan.App.2d 649 at Syl. ¶ 4. See also *Mitchell*, 32 Kan.App.2d at 302; *Brown*, 2008 WL 5234533 at *2.

If the standard was as the Defendant argues, each of these previously cited cases, except *George* and *Chastain*, should be overturned. In *Mitchell*, as noted above, the officer took the defendant to a hospital that would not draw blood but did not take him to another area hospital. The defendant did not renew his request for a blood test, and the *Mitchell* Panel held the officer was not required to do more. Likewise, in *Brown*, the defendant requested a blood test before he was in custody and before he had taken a breath test, then refused to let the hospital draw blood. If the Defendant today is correct and the Defendant needs ask only once, at

any time for additional testing, and the purpose of additional testing is to provide evidence for a defendant to counter the State's test in court, should not have Brown been taken back to the hospital after his breath test? In neither *Mitchell* or *Brown* did the defendant renew their request for additional testing, and in both cases, panels of this Court held the officers did not err.

In yet another case, not previously discussed in this Brief, *State v. Nodgaard*, 149 P.3d 547 (Table), 2007 WL 92683 (attached), the defendant was arrested for DUI, and during the reading of the implied consent advisory, interrupted the officer and asked for a blood test. 2007 WL 92683 at *1. He was told he was being offered a breath test, to which he eventually submitted. *Id.* He did not renew his request for a blood test after his breath test and was convicted of DUI. On appeal, he argued that his breath test be suppressed because the officer did not honor his request for a blood test after the breath test was complete. The *Nodgaard* Panel summed up his request this way:

What Nodgaard asks on appeal is for us to find that the mention of an attorney and a blood test during the reading of the implied consent advisories triggers an affirmative requirement on the part of law enforcement officers to see that such rights are exercised after testing is completed, despite the fact that Nodgaard made no request for either an attorney or a further test after he learned of the .17 results of the breath test. *Id.* at *3.

Then, citing the "reasonable opportunity" language in *George*, the Panel upheld the trial court's denial of Nodgaard's motion to suppress.

In each of these cases cited, the appellate courts did not establish a requirement for the officer to ensure an additional test is provided no matter

when a defendant invokes the right to additional testing. Indeed, in each of these cases, the appellate courts cited the standard that an officer cannot unreasonably interfere with a defendant's reasonable efforts to obtain testing. In the instant case, the Defendant's attorney argued in the suppression hearing that he did not restate his desire for an additional test because he assumed when the officer told him he would have to do it on his own, he would not be taken to get one. There is absolutely no evidence of this in the video; in fact, the officer twice asks him after the second test if he has any questions, and then before leaving the station, he told the Defendant to have the staff call him back if he needed anything. It is just as reasonable to think that the Defendant, after taking two breath tests and being told twice he was over the legal limit, assumed an additional test would yield the same results and therefore changed his mind about additional testing.

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