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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES 

The District Court correctly determined the arresting officer 
improperly denied the defendant his right, under K.S.A. 8-1004, 
to a reasonable opportunity to obtain an additional test after the 
defendant submitted to testing under K.S.A. 8-1001. 

Appellee concurs with Appellant's citation to the standard of appellate review. 

The issue is whether the defendant was given a reasonable opportunity to have an 

additional test completed, the requested blood test, by a physician of his own choosing. 

Suppression of the State's test results is the proper remedy when the person is not 

afforded a reasonable opportunity to secure such testing. K.S.A. Supp.2018 8-1004; State 

v. George, 12 Kan.App.2d 649, 754 P.2d 460 (1998). Ultimately, there are two reasons to 

uphold the district court's suppression of the breath test. First, at the time of Mr. 

Heineken's request for a blood test, he had completed testing under K.S.A. 8-1001. 

Second, the timing of Mr. Heineken's request for a blood draw was of no consequence. 

The fact is that Mr. Heineken made the request for a blood draw, he completed the testing 

requested by the State, and Deputy Myers provided Mr. Heineken with no opportunity to 

obtain the requested blood draw. 

Completion of testing 

"Without limiting or affecting the provisions of K.S.A. 8-1001, and amendments 

thereto, the person tested shall have a reasonable opportunity to have an additional test by 

a physician of the person's own choosing. In case the officer refuses to permit such 

testing, the testing administered under K.S.A. 8-1001, and amendments thereto, shall not 
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be competent in evidence." K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 8-1004 (Emphasis added). Testimony 

from Deputy Myers at the motion hearing in the instant matter was that he received a 

valid test print-out from the Intoxilyzer 9000 on Mr. Heineken's first breath test. 

Although Deputy Myers had some concern about the test, due to his observation of what 

he believed were chewing tobacco flakes on the mouthpiece, the machine gave no 

warning tones and printed a valid test card. There has been no argument from the State 

that the first test was not a valid breath test. In fact, during arguments on the Motion to 

Reconsider, the State conceded that it was "going to argue that the first test was a valid 

test at trial, ifwe ever get there" (RV3, Pg 18, Ln 13-16). 

"We hold that there is coupled with a DUI suspect's statutory right to additional 

testing a corresponding duty on the part of law enforcement officers not to deny the 

suspect that right." State v. George, 12 Kan.App.2d 649,653, 754 P.2d 460 (1988). As 

the district court in the instant matter found, "Officer Myers did nothing to afford him 

(Mr. Heineken) the opportunity" (RV3, Pg23, Ln 17-18). Rather, after Mr. Heineken 

submitted to a valid test (the first breath test), and then requested a blood test, Deputy 

Myers informed him "that was something he was going to have to do on his own." (RV2, 

Pg 18, Ln 1-3; Pg 18, Ln 21-23). It is clear Deputy Myers knew Mr. Heineken was 

requesting a blood draw to assist in his defense as Deputy Myers stated to Mr. Heineken 

at the police station, "If you want to go have blood drawn and use that as your defense 

later down the road, that's totally up to you." (RV2, Pg. 20, Ln 6-9). Deputy Myers denied 
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Mr. Heineken that opportunity by subjecting him to a second breath test, and then turning 

Mr. Heineken over to jail staff to be processed and requiring him to bond out. 

The State cites to Mitchell v. Kansas Dept. of Revenue, 32 Kan.App.2d 298, 81 

P.3d 1258 (2004), for the proposition that Deputy Myers did not deny Mr. Heineken an 

opportunity for a blood test. The facts in the instant matter are clearly distinguishable 

from those in Mitchell. In Mitchell, the licensee submitted to a breath test and requested 

an independent blood test. Mitchell, 32 Kan.App.2d at 299 (2004). The trooper in that 

case transported Mr. Mitchell to a hospital and hospital staff informed the trooper they 

would only complete a blood draw if the Kansas Highway Patrol could be billed for the 

costs. Id. After discussing options for Mr. Mitchell to receive a blood draw, and being 

told there were no available options, the trooper transported Mr. Mitchell back to the 

police station. Id. at 299-300. 

Here, Deputy Myers did nothing to afford Mr. Heineken the opportunity to obtain 

the blood test he requested. Had Deputy Myers transported Mr. Heineken to the local 

hospital, and the hospital denied Mr. Heineken the opportunity to receive the requested 

blood draw, Mitchell would control. However, it is clear from the deputy's own words, 

"that's something you're going to have to do on your own," that the deputy was not going 

to afford Mr. Heineken an opportunity to obtain the requested blood draw. 

The State argues that Deputy Myers was only referring to the fact the cost of the 

blood test would be at the defendant's expense when he stated, "that's something you will 
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have to do on your own," and that the deputy was advising Mr. Heineken the test would 

not be under the observation of the deputy (State's brief, Pg 12). However, when cross

examined, Deputy Myers testified there was no discussion about how Mr. Heineken 

would get to a location to have his blood drawn, nor about who would pay for the blood 

draw (RV2, Pg 18, Ln 18-20; Pg. 18, Ln 24-25; Pg 19, Ln 1). Deputy Myers testimony 

quoted by the State regarding these matters was not given until after the defense had filed 

its motion to suppress. 

The State also cites to State v. Brown, 196 P.3d 1232 (Table), 2008 WL 5234533. 

Again, the facts of the instant matter are distinguishable from the facts in Brown. As cited 

by the State, Mr. Brown was transported to a hospital after a single-vehicle accident. 

Brown, 2008 WL 5234533 at* 1. While at the hospital, Mr. Brown requested a blood 

draw and a breath test. Id. However, when hospital staff attempted to draw his blood, Mr. 

Brown refused their attempts. Id. After being transported to the police department, and 

submitting to a breath test, Mr. Brown never requested a blood draw again. Id. The court 

in that matter held that Mr. Brown had not been denied a reasonable opportunity to obtain 

the blood draw. Id. at *2. 

Unlike the facts in Brown, Mr. Heineken was never given an opportunity to obtain 

a blood test, let alone refuse it when the opportunity presented itself. As the Brown court 

held, "[the officer] provided Brown an opportunity for the blood test at the hospital, but 

Brown refused to allow his blood to be drawn." Brown, 2008 WL 5234533 at *3. In the 
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present matter, Mr. Heineken requested a blood draw after completing the breath test, and 

Deputy Myers never provided him with an opportunity to obtain one. 

In State v. Chastain, 265 Kan. 16,960 P.2d 756 (1998), another case cited by the 

State, the defendant submitted to a breath test and subsequently requested a blood test. 

Chastain, 265 Kan. at 18 (1998). However, after the officer advised Mr. Chastain he 

would take him to the hospital to get his requested blood test, he further stated that the 

results of a blood test would be higher than the breath test and Mr. Chastain told the 

officer, "forget it." Id. 

Here, after Mr. Heineken submitted to the breath test, and requested a blood test, 

Deputy Myers informed him that was "something he would have to do on his own." It is 

clear from the officer's own words that Mr. Heineken would be required to obtain the 

blood draw on his own. Obtaining a blood draw on his own was something Mr. Heineken 

was not in a position to do at the time of the request. He was located inside a police 

station, in the custody of Deputy Myers, and had no opportunity to leave and go anywhere 

to obtain the blood draw.Nothing about these facts is remotely similar to the facts 

outlined in Chastain. 

The State argues, "In Brown, Mitchell, and Chastain, each of the defendant's 

failed to renew their request for a blood test after the intervening event." (State's brief, Pg 

12). What the State fails to recognize is there was no intervening event in the instant 

matter. Mr. Heineken submitted to the breath test which Deputy Myers requested. The 
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first test was a completed test, a fact not contested by the State. At the time of Mr. 

Heineken's blood test request, he had a statutory right to have that test completed and 

Deputy Myers did not provide him with a reasonable opportunity to obtain the requested 

blood test. "Under K.S.A. [] 8-1004, a person suspected of driving under the influence 

who has been given an alcohol concentration test has the right to a reasonable opportunity 

to have an additional test performed. If the suspect is not given this opportunity for 

additional testing, the State's test is not competent in evidence." State v. George, 12 

Kan.App.2d 649, Syllabus #1 by the Court, 754 P.2d 460 (1988). 

Timing of the Request 

Even if the Court finds there was an intervening event in this matter, the second 

breath test, the timing of Mr. Heineken's request for a blood test is inconsequential. 

"The mandatory implied consent notices that must be given to a person before a 

law enforcement officer can administer a drug or alcohol test include the advice that there 

is no constitutional right to consult with an attorney regarding whether to submit to 

testing, but that after completion of the testing, the person has the right to consult with an 

attorney and may secure additional testing." Dumler v. Kansas Dept. of Revenue, 302 

Kan. 420, Syllabus #2 by the Court, 354 P .3d 519 (2015) (Emphasis added). While in 

Dumler the question presented was whether the licensee had been denied his post-testing 

right to consult with an attorney, the analysis provided applies to the facts in this case as 

well. 
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In Dumler, the licensee was transported to the sheriff's office and provided with 

the implied consent notices under K.S.A. 2009 Supp. 8-l00l(k)(l) through (10) [K.S.A. 

2018 Supp. (c)(l) through (4) at the time of Mr. Heineken's test]. Dumler 302 Kan. at 422 

(2015). '"On several occassions before the breath test was administered Dumler requested 

that he be permitted to confer with an attorney,' with the last request coming after the oral 

and written implied consent advisories and the Miranda warnings." [Citations ommitted] 

Dumler at 422. "Dumler did not repeat his request for an attorney or request additional 

testing after his breath test failure." Id. (Emphasis added). The arresting officer 

acknowledged that he never gave Dumler an opportunity to confer with an attorney. Id. In 

suppressing Mr. Dumler's breath test, the Kansas Supreme Court held, "The advisory 

required under K.S.A. 2009 Supp. 8-l00l(k)(l0) states that the consultation right accrues 

'after the completion of testing[,' but] it does not say that a request to invoke that right of 

consultation must await the completion of testing." Dumler at 426. 

As in Dumler, Mr. Heineken was advised prior to his submission to the breath test 

that, after the completion of testing, he had the right to consult with an attorney and to 

secure additional testing. Even if Mr. Heineken had not completed testing after the first 

breath test - a fact the defense denies - he requested a blood test after the first test and his 

right to have additional testing completed was not honored once the second test was 

completed. As the Dumler court noted, "The right is stated affirmatively and is not 

conditioned upon the person making a post-test request." Dumler at 426. 
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The State cites to the unpublished, pre-Dumler case of State v. Nodgaard, 149 P.3d 

54 7 (Table), 2007 WL 92683, for the proposition that a pre-test request for an attorney 

does not invoke a DUI suspects right to counsel after completion of a breath test. The 

Dumler case is a more recent, and published, case which says otherwise. Factually, the 

Nodgaard case is distinct from Mr. Heineken's case as well. 

In Nodgaard, the arresting officer was "reading that portion of the implied consent 

that says there is no constitutional right to a lawyer regarding whether to submit to testing, 

[when] Norgaard 'mentioned a lawyer,' and [the arresting officer] ... told Nodgaard, '[N]o, 

[you] cannot have a lawyer' and continued to read the implied consent." Nodgaard, 2007 

WL 92683 at * 1. Further, "while he was reading the part of the implied consent where it 

says the person shall be 'hereafter requested to take a blood, breath or urine' test, 

N odgaard interrupted the reading and asked about taking a blood test[, and the arresting 

officer] testified he told N odgaard that he was offering N odgaard the breath test." Id. 

Here, Mr. Heineken had already completed the first breath test, which was a valid 

test. Mr. Heineken then asked Deputy Myers about obtaining a blood test. Mr. Heineken 

had already been advised by the officer that, "after the completion of testing, [he] may 

request and has the right to consult with an attorney and may secure additional testing." 

K.S.A. 2018 Supp. 8-l00l(c)(l). Deputy Myers then asked Mr. Heineken ifhe would 

submit to an additional breath test, and Mr. Heineken did so. Notably, after Mr. Heineken 

had completed the first test, but prior to submission to the second test, Deputy Myers had 
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already informed Mr. Heineken, "If you want to go have blood drawn and use that as your 

defense later down the road, that's totally up to you." (RV2, Pg. 20, Ln 6-9). Because he 

had been told that any additional testing was "up to him," Mr. Heineken had no reason to 

ask Deputy Myers about a blood draw after the second breath test. The State concludes its 

brief by stating, "[ a ]t some point along the way, the Defendant changed his mind, for 

whatever reason, about additional testing." There is absolutely no evidence to support that 

conclusion. Rather, Deputy Myers had already informed Mr. Heineken that if he wanted 

to have additional testing completed, "that was something he was going to have to do on 

his own." 

CONCLUSION 

The District Court was correct in finding the defendant was not given a reasonable 

opportunity to have an additional test completed, the requested blood test, by a physician 

of his own choosing, and suppressing the breath test.